
MINUTES OF THE PLAN COMMISSION 

May 11, 2015 

 

 

The regular meeting of the Plan Commission was called to order by Chairman Mark Moore at 

7:22 p.m. at the Village Hall. 

 

Members present:  Chairman Mark Moore, Dan Donahue, Amy Flores, Walter Oakley, Kurt 

Schultz, and David Semmelman. 

 

Members absent:  William Cotey. 

 

Village Staff present:  John Spoden, Director of Community Development; David Smith, Senior 

Planner; and Fred Chung, Senior Project Engineer. 

 

Commissioner Donahue moved, seconded by Commissioner Schultz, to approve the April 13, 

2015, Plan Commission meeting minutes. 

 

Motion carried 6 - 0. 

 

OLD BUSINESS: 

 

PC 15-06 Bridge Point 94 LLC, Applicant 

  851-937 E. Park Avenue 

 

Request is for a Major Adjustment to the Planned Development Final Plan in order 

to make modifications to the parking lot in order to accommodate truck trailer and 

truck tractor parking locations on the site not previously approved on the Planned 

Development Final Plan in an I-3, General Industrial District. 

 

NEW BUSINESS: 

 

PC 15-08 Bridge Point 94 LLC, Applicant 

  851-937 E. Park Avenue 

 

Request is for an Amendment to the Special Use Permit for a Planned Development 

in order to remove the condition that no truck deliveries take place after 9:00 p.m. 

or prior to 7:00 a.m. for property located in an I-3, General Industrial District. 

 

PC 15-09 Bridge Point 94 LLC, Applicant 

  851-937 E. Park Avenue 

 

Request is for an Amendment to the Special Use Permit for Warehousing and 

Storage in order to remove the condition that no truck deliveries take place after 

9:00 p.m. or prior to 7:00 a.m. for property located in an I-3, General Industrial 

District. 

 



Minutes of the May 11, 2015, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 2 of 8 

 

Mr. David Smith, Senior Planner, introduced the proposal.  Mr. Smith stated that the petitioner, 

Bridge Point 94, LLC, was granted approval for a Special Use Permit for Planned Development, 

a Planned Development Concept Plan, a Special Use Permit for Warehousing and Storage, and a 

Preliminary Plat of Subdivision by the Village Board in July of 2013.  Mr. Smith stated that the 

Village Board then granted approval for the Planned Development Final Plan and Final Plat of 

Subdivision in June of 2014 in order to construct two warehousing and distribution buildings on 

approximately 22 acres of land for property located at 851-937 East Park Avenue in the I-3, 

General Industrial District. 

 

Mr. Smith stated that the petitioner appeared before the Village Board of Trustees at their   

March 10, 2015 meeting requesting a Major Adjustment to the Planned Development Final Plan 

to allow truck and trailer parking to the north and east of the buildings at the site.  Mr. Smith 

stated that the proposal included the reduction of a landscape island on the southeast end of the 

site, the parking of semi-tractor trucks on the northern end of the site outside of the interior truck 

court area, and the storage of truck trailers along the east façade of the east building.  Mr. Smith 

stated that the previous approval was based on testimony from the applicant that only automobile 

parking would be allowed around the perimeter of the site, and that trucks would be limited to 

the interior truck court area.  Mr. Smith stated that the Village Board determined that the 

proposed changes to the approved Final Plan was not in substantial conformity of the approved 

Final Plan and referred the proposal back to the Plan Commission for review and 

recommendation. 

 

Mr. Smith stated that the petitioner appeared before the Plan Commission at their April 13, 2015 

meeting requesting the changes to allow truck and trailer parking to the north and east of the 

buildings at the site.  He stated that during the course of the April 13, 2015 Plan Commission 

meeting, the petitioner, Mark Houser, indicated that the proposed changes are on behalf of the 

Frito Lay company which is seeking occupancy on the south end of the east building.  Mr. 

Houser stated that they attempted to accommodate Frito Lay by keeping all of the trucks in the 

interior truck court area, but stated that Frito Lay’s distribution needs requires them to store some 

trailers on the east side of the building.  Mr. Smith stated that Mr. Houser testified that after they 

submitted their request for the Major Adjustment to the Planned Development Final Plan, Frito 

Lay has since then requested to add more trailer storage spaces on the east side of the east 

building for a total of 18 parking spaces for truck trailers at the southeast location.  Mr. Smith 

stated that Mr. Houser testified that Frito Lay is also requesting to allow shipping and receiving 

to take place between 9:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. which would require an amendment to the Special 

Use Permits for the Planned Development and the Warehousing and Storage as each ordinance 

contained the condition that restricts overnight deliveries.   

 

Mr. Smith stated that the Plan Commission made a motion to continue the request for a Major 

Adjustment to the Planned Development Final Plan to May 11, 2015 in order to provide the 

opportunity to the petitioner to apply for the Amendments to the Special Use Permits for both 

Planned Development and for the Warehousing and Storage in order to remove the shipping and 

receiving restriction during evening hours. 

 

Mr. Mark Houser, petitioner, stated that they are proposing to store up to 18 trailers on the east 

side of the east building and that their prospective tenant is requesting to allow shipping and 



Minutes of the May 11, 2015, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 3 of 8 

 

receiving between the hours of 9:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m.  He stated that these deliveries would 

only come to the truck court area.  He stated that they do not anticipate more than 12 trailers to 

be stored at any one time on the east side of the building and that they are committed to not 

allowing the trucks to idle. 

 

Mr. Dale Sherman, 766 Meadow Lane, stated that this proposal contradicts the prior approval.  

He stated that Bridge Development agreed with the conditions associated with the prior approval.  

He stated that a deal should be a deal and not broken. 

 

Mr. Donald Kahn, 758 Meadow Lane, stated that there isn’t a hardship to support the requested 

zoning approvals. 

 

Mr. Mike Schreiber, 1212 Ashbury, stated that there seems to be a lot of vacant buildings 

elsewhere and that the developer should consider using those.  He stated that he is concerned 

about the headlights shining onto his property from the subject site.  He stated that he is 

concerned about the impact on the real estate taxes.  He stated that he is concerned about the 

potential noise impact caused by the trucks. 

 

Mr. Justin Ford, Frito Lay representative, stated that for this particular facility they will not use 

the typical route vans. 

 

Ms. Robin Sherman, 766 Meadow Lane, stated that the Bridge Development buildings are an 

eyesore and a monstrosity.  She stated that 24 hour traffic is not necessary.  She stated that Rt. 

176 is overly congested now.  She stated that the prior approved condition to restrict deliveries 

between 9pm and 7am should remain in place. 

 

Ms. Jeannine Phillips, 304 Camelot Lane, stated that she has lived for three years in her house.  

She stated that she is concerned about the night noise.  She stated that the first tenant for the 

Bridge Development site, (Frito Lay), seems like it will not be a good fit for the site.  She stated 

that she is concerned that the owner will come back multiple times for additional concessions 

that are not compliant with the prior approvals for the site.   She stated that she is concerned 

about the effect on property values. 

 

Ms. Jennifer Criel, 600 Meadow Lane, stated that she is concerned that the applicant will not be 

able to guarantee that there will not be overnight idling. 

 

Mr. Ford, Frito Lay representative, stated that they will actively manage against allowing truck 

idling.  

 

Mr. Houser stated that they will want the ability to allow over night deliveries for the other future 

tenants as well. 

 

Ms. Janice Pearson, 742 Meadow Lane, stated that she is concerned about the impact upon her 

property values.  She stated that the Bridge web site indicates that there is only one other site 

where a Bridge Development facility abuts a residential district.  She stated that she feels like 

Libertyville is a guinea pig for Bridge.  She stated that it is really close and that this is setting a 



Minutes of the May 11, 2015, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 4 of 8 

 

precedent.  She stated that the landscaping is not really working, it is not screening the buildings 

from view. 

 

Mr. Houser stated that they are still installing the landscaping.  He stated that that the timing of 

the landscape installation is weather contingent.   

 

Mr. Lawrence Dziurdzik, landscape architect for Bridge Development, stated that they just 

started planting two weeks ago.  He stated that they are about 70% completed on the west side of 

the fence. 

 

Ms. Pearson stated that she hopes that the developer would be willing to make adjustments.  She 

stated that the visual line of sight looking down Meadow Lane is not screened from viewing the 

Bridge buildings. 

 

Mr. Dziurdzik stated that he is willing to meet the residents on site and review the condition of 

the landscaping to see if adjustments could be made. 

 

Mr. Larry Bayliff, 785 Meadow Lane, stated that he built a nice home on Meadow Lane.  He 

stated that he has heard trucks idling at 5:00 a.m.  He stated that Frito Lay will only use 40,000 

square feet of one building.  He stated that he is concerned that the next Bridge Development 

tenant will be a bread company and that they will need to operate the same delivery schedule as 

Frito Lay. 

 

Ms. Gwen Zum Brunnen, 757 East Sunnyside Avenue, stated that Bridge Development painted a 

rosy picture in the initial public hearings but now they do not seem to be meeting those 

expectations.  She stated that now they are look at a massive wall.  She stated that she is opposed 

to the requests.   

 

Mr. Brian Levins, 721 Meadow Lane, stated that he is concerned about the semi-truck noise 

being added to the existing wind turbine noise.  He stated that he is strongly opposed. 

 

Ms. Mary Slight, 610 Innsbrook Court, stated that the rendering depicted by the petitioner does 

not seem to be consistent with what is actually being developed.  She stated that she opposed the 

requests.   

 

Mr. Tom Filar, 770 Meadow Lane, stated that a deal is a deal.  He stated that the rules should not 

be changed now.  He stated that he is concerned about the night deliveries.  He stated that the 

truck drivers will come in tired and will want to sleep in their truck cabs while the engines idle.  

He stated that the developer is violating a trust between them and the residential neighbors.  He 

stated that the neighbors should not have to be burdened to make the call to the Village to make 

complaints about the development.  He stated that he questions the anticipated number of trucks 

coming in and out of the site. 

 

Mr. Ford, Frito Lay, stated that they anticipate that within a 24 hour period that the number 

would average 26 total truck trips in and out.   

 



Minutes of the May 11, 2015, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 5 of 8 

 

Ms. Susan Hanlon, 408 Seventh Avenue, stated that she is concerned about idling trucks.  She is 

concerned that the truck drivers will sleep in the truck cabs over night.  She stated that she does 

not agree with overnight truck deliveries.   

 

Ms. Juliet Rojas, 1216 Ashbury Lane, stated that she is concerned about the safety.  She stated 

that exiting her subdivision onto Rt. 176 is dangerous.  She stated that by adding more trucks at 

the Bridge Development will exasperate the situation.   

 

Mr. Houser stated that Frito Lay will incorporate a delivery schedule that will take place off of 

peak traffic hours. 

 

Ms. Diane Weitekamper, 103 Camelot Lane, stated that the non-peak traffic time is usually when 

I’m in my back yard.  She stated that she is concerned about the anticipate pollution.  She stated 

that consideration should be given to focusing more on office-based companies.  She asked if the 

traffic study was re-done. 

 

Mr. James Woods, Civil Tech Engineering and Village of Libertyville’s traffic consultant, stated 

that they looked at the peak hours in the traffic study.  He stated that the traffic study 

incorporated worse case scenarios.   

 

Ms. Weitekamper stated that she is opposed to any increase in truck traffic.  She stated that truck 

idling will not be monitored.   

 

Mr. Ford, Frito Lay, stated that they anticipate 26 in’s and out’s on an average based modeling.   

He stated that truck delivery operations will be conducted from Sunday evening through Friday 

evening. 

 

Ms. Weitekamper stated that she is concerned about 24 our operations within the building 

themselves.   

 

Mr. John Spoden, Director of Community Development, stated that the Village does not restrict 

twenty-four hour manufacturing operations in the Industrial Districts. 

 

Ms. Weitekamper stated that she is concerned about the proposed electrical outlets locates so 

close to the bike path. 

 

Mr. Bayliff stated that 46,000 square foot space for Frito Lay seems kind of small for a 

distribution facility. 

 

Mr. Ford, Frito Lay, stated that the company has been seeking and developing smaller and more 

numerous distribution centers. 

 

Ms. Angie Lindsey, 101 Camelot Lane, stated that she is concerned about the noise and idling.  

She asked if the bike path will be signed for traffic control and safety. 

 

  



Minutes of the May 11, 2015, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 6 of 8 

 

Mr. Angelo Zografos, civil engineer for petitioner, stated that bike path is both signed and has 

pavement markings. 

 

Ms. Lindsey stated an approval for tonight’s request would make for a slippery slope.  She stated 

that she is against the request. 

 

Mr. Sherman asked if the trucks beeped when they back up.  Mr. Ford, Frito Lay, stated that the 

trucks will beep when they back up. 

 

Mr. Sherman stated that then the neighboring residents will have to endure the alarm clocks 

throughout the night. 

 

Ms. Mary Ann Philips, 16340 West Arlington Drive, Libertyville, stated that she is a frequent 

user of the bike path.  She stated that the truck traffic is a nuisance.  She stated that she is 

concerned about the diesel fumes how it will be monitored.  She asked what the length of the 

lease will be.  Mr. Ford, Frito Lay, stated that it will be a five (5) year lease. 

 

Mr. Chuck Pearson, 742 Meadow Lane, stated that he was opposed to the project in the 

beginning.  He stated that he now has to look at a massive horrific wall.  He stated that the 

landscaping is not done yet.  He stated that the whole project saddens me and it is discouraging.  

He stated that he hopes that Pandora’s box will not be opened.  He asked the Plan Commission to 

not approve the requested action. 

 

Ms. Cheryl Carroll, 623 Wrightwood, stated that she is concerned about the idling of trucks. 

 

Mr. Houser stated that there will not be any idling from the trucks. 

 

Mr. Pearson showed pictures of the Bridge Development buildings and landscaping to the Plan 

Commission and audience. 

 

Commissioner Oakley asked why Frito Lay needed overnight delivery capability. 

 

Mr. Ford, Frito Lay, stated due to the late afternoon of the Indiana and Wisconsin trucking 

schedules it forces later turnaround times for the Bridge site in order to avoid rush hour traffic. 

 

Commissioner Oakley asked if the developer intends to fill the east building first.  Mr. Houser 

stated that it depends upon the needs of each tenant as to where they will take occupancy. 

 

Commissioner Oakley asked of delivery restrictions can be placed on a particular tenant.  Mr. 

David Pardys, Village Attorney, stated that those kinds of restrictions could be placed on the 

tenant but could be placed on the tenant space. 

 

Commissioner Semmelman stated that he agrees with the general sentiment and stated that a deal 

is a deal and should not be broken. 

 

  



Minutes of the May 11, 2015, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 7 of 8 

 

Commissioner Schultz stated that the petitioner should comply with the conditions and not have 

them changed.  He stated that other future tenants will want to make their own adjustments and 

that this request may set a bad precedent.  He stated that this is counter to a planned 

development.   

 

Mr. Houser stated that he is willing to meet the residents at the site to discuss their concerns. 

 

Chairman Moore asked the petitioner if he would like a Plan Commission vote tonight.  Mr. 

Houser stated that he would like for a Plan Commission vote and recommendation. 

 

In the matter of PC 15-06, Commissioner Semmelman moved, seconded by Commissioner 

Donahue, to recommend the Village Board of Trustees approve a Major Adjustment to the 

Planned Development Final Plan in order to make modifications to the parking lot in order to 

accommodate truck trailer and truck tractor parking locations on the site not previously 

approved on the Planned Development Final Plan in an I-3, General Industrial District, in 

accordance with the plans submitted. 

 

Motion failed 0 - 6. 

 

Ayes:  None 

Nays:  Moore, Donahue, Schultz, Flores, Oakley, Semmelman 

Absent: Cotey 

 

In the matter of PC 15-08, Commissioner Semmelman moved, seconded by Commissioner 

Donahue, to recommend the Village Board of Trustees approve an Amendment to the Special 

Use Permit for a Planned Development in order to remove the condition that no truck deliveries 

take place after 9:00 p.m. or prior to 7:00 a.m. for property located in an I-3, General Industrial 

District, in accordance with the plans submitted. 

 

Motion failed 0 - 6. 

 

Ayes:  None 

Nays:  Moore, Donahue, Schultz, Flores, Oakley, Semmelman 

Absent: Cotey 

 

In the matter of PC 15-09, Commissioner Semmelman moved, seconded by Commissioner 

Donahue, to recommend the Village Board of Trustees approve an Amendment to the Special 

Use Permit for Warehousing and Storage in order to remove the condition that no truck 

deliveries take place after 9:00 p.m. or prior to 7:00 a.m. for property located in an I-3, General 

Industrial District, in accordance with the plans submitted. 

 

Motion failed 0 - 6. 

 

Ayes:  None 

Nays:  Moore, Donahue, Schultz, Flores, Oakley, Semmelman 

Absent: Cotey 



Minutes of the May 11, 2015, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 8 of 8 

 

COMMUNICATIONS AND DISCUSSION: 

 

Mr. John Spoden, Director of Community Development, advised the Plan Commission that the 

ordinance adopting the updated Sign Code will be on the May 26, 2015, Village Board agenda. 

 

Commissioner Oakley moved, seconded by Commissioner Donahue, to adjourn the Plan 

Commission meeting. 

 

Motion carried 6 - 0. 

 

Meeting adjourned at 9:30 p.m. 


